A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The court violated appellant's constitutional right to a public trial 

during the jury selection process. 

2. The court erred in imposing the following condition of community 

custody: "Avoid all contact with minors, to including your own children, 

and adhere to the instructions of the Community Corrections Officer 

concerning residence and employment, unless otherwise authorized by the 

Department of Corrections and treatment provider with an adult sponsor 

approved by the provider and the Department of Corrections." CP 112 

(emphasis added). 

3. The court erred in imposing the following condition of community 

custody: "Submit to polygraph and/or plethysmograph assessment at own 

expense as directed by Department of Corrections and therapist, but 

limited to topics related to monitoring compliance with crime-related 

sentencing conditions." CP 111 (emphasis added). 

4. The court erred in imposing the following condition of community 

custody: "Do not date or form relationships with people who are less than 

20 percent of your age. You shall discuss with your therapist &/or 

Community Corrections Officer ahead of time your wish to escalate the 

relationship into sexual activity and obtain your therapist &/or CCO's 
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• 

approval. Your partner shall participate in treatment." CP 118 (emphasis 

added). 

5. The court erred in imposing the following condition of community 

custody: "Do not withhold information or keep secrets from treatment 

provider or Community Corrections Officer." CP 112. 

6. The court erred in imposing the following condition of community 

custody: "Do not use or possess sexually explicit material in any form as 

described by the treatment provider and/or Community Corrections 

Officer, including internet use and possession." CP 111 (emphasis added). 

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1. Whether the court violated appellant's constitutional right 

to a public trial when the for-cause and peremptory challenge portions of 

the jury selection process took place at private sidebars without analyzing 

the requisite factors to justify closure? 

2. Whether the community custody condition prohibiting 

contact with appellant's own minor children must be stricken because it is 

not crime-related and violates appellant's constitutional right to parent his 

children? 

3. Whether the community custody condition requmng 

appellant to participate in plethysmograph examination at the direction of 
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the Department of Corrections must be stricken as an unconstitutional 

bodily intrusion? 

4. Whether the community custody condition prohibiting 

appellant from dating or forming relationships with a certain class of persons 

must be stricken because it is not crime-related and unconstitutionally 

infringes on his fundamental right to association? 

5. Whether the community custody condition requmng 

appellant to "not withhold information or keep secrets from treatment 

provider or Community Corrections Officer" must be stricken because it is 

unconstitutionally vague in violation of due process? 

6. Whether the community custody condition prohibiting use or 

possession of "sexually explicit material" must be stricken because it is not 

crime-related, violates appellant's fundamental right to free speech, and is 

unconstitutionally vague in violation of due process? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The State charged Jose Gabino with one count of first degree child 

molestation. CP 3-4. The first trial in 2004 resulted in a hung jury. CP 

64-65. At a second trial in 2012, a jury found Gabino guilty. CP 82. At 

that second trial, L.G. testified Gabino touched her private area over her 

clothes during a birthday party in 2003 when she was eight years old. 

- 3 -



2RPI 48, 50, 75-78, 83-84. Gabino, testifying in his own defense, denied 

touching L. G. 2RP 380-8l. The court imposed an indeterminate sentence 

of 62 months minimum confinement and a lifetime term of community 

custody. CP 100. This appeal timely follows. CP 115-32. 

C. ARGUMENT 

1. THE COURT VIOLATED GABINO'S RIGHT TO A 
PUBLIC TRIAL WHEN IT CONDUCTED PORTIONS 
OF THE JURY SELECTION PROCESS IN PRIVATE. 

For-cause challenges and peremptory challenges were exercised at 

sidebar. The court erred in conducting these portions of the jury selection 

process in private without justifying the closure under the standard 

established by Washington Supreme Court and United States Supreme 

Court precedent. This structural error requires reversal of the conviction. 

a. Juror And Peremptory Challenges Were Exercised 
At Sidebar. 

Jury selection took place on October 8, 2012. lRP. The venire 

panel was publicly questioned on the record in the courtroom. 1 RP 3-100. 

At the close of questioning, the court stated "when counsel are ready you 

can approach the bench." 1 RP 100. Peremptory challenges were 

conducted off the record, designated by a "[ d]iscussion between court and 

1 The verbatim report of proceedings is referenced as follows: 1 RP -
10/8/12 (voir dire); 2RP - 10/8/1 2 (supplemental); 3RP - two 
consecutively paginated volumes consisting of 10/8/12, 10/9/12, 10/1 0/12, 
10/11/12; 4RP - 2/26/13. 
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counsel outside the hearing of the jury panel" in the transcript. 1 RP 201; 

CP 135-36. When the process was finished, the court announced on the 

record who would serve as jurors for the trial. 1 RP 102. 

After the jury left the courtroom, the court announced it wanted to 

"put on the record what we did at side bar regarding jury selection." 2RP 

3. Six jurors proposed by the court were excused by agreement. 2RP 3. 

The State challenged five jurors for cause, which were not objected to by 

the defense. 2RP 3. The defense challenged seven jurors for cause, five 

of which were unopposed by the State and two of which were opposed. 

2RP 3. The court denied the challenges that were opposed by the State. 

2RP 3. 

The court then put on the record that the State had used six of its 

seven peremptory challenges and listed the jurors peremptorily struck by 

the State. 2RP 3. The court also put on the record that the defense used 

six of its seven peremptory challenges and listed the jurors peremptorily 

struck by the defense. 2RP 3. 

b. Juror Challenges Conducted At Sidebar Constitute 
A Closure For Public Trial Purposes. 

The federal and state constitutions guarantee the right to a public 

trial to every defendant. U.S. Const. amend VI; Wash. Const. art I, § 22. 

Additionally, article I, section 10 expressly guarantees to the public and 
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press the right open court proceedings. State v. Easterling, 157 Wn.2d 167, 

174, 137 P.3d 825 (2006). Whether a trial court has violated the 

defendant's right to a public trial is a question of law reviewed de novo. 

Easterling, 157 Wn.2d at 173-74. 

The right to a public trial is the right to have a trial open to the 

public. In re Pers. Restraint of Orange, 152 Wn.2d 795, 804-05, 100 P.3d 

291 (2004). This is a core safeguard in our system of justice. State v. 

Wise, 176 Wn.2d 1,5,288 P.3d 1113 (2012). The open and public 

judicial process helps assure fair trials, deters misconduct by participants, 

and tempers biases and undue partiality. Wise, 176 Wn.2d at 5-6. 

Furthermore, "[t]he requirement of a public trial is for the benefit 

of the accused; that the public may see he is fairly dealt with and not 

unjustly condemned, and that the presence of interested spectators may 

keep his triers keenly alive to a sense of their responsibility and to the 

importance of their functions." State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 259, 

906 P.2d 325 (1995) (quoting In re Oliver, 333 U.S. 257,270 n. 25, 68 S. 

Ct. 499, 92 L. Ed. 682 (1948)). 

One type of "closure" is "when the courtroom is completely and 

purposefully closed to spectators so that no one may enter and no one may 

leave." State v. Lormor, 172 Wn.2d 85, 93, 257 P.3d 624 (2011). 

Physical closure of the courtroom, however, is not the only situation that 
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violates the public trial right. Another type of closure occurs where a 

proceeding takes place in a location inaccessible to the public, such as a 

judge's chambers or hallway. Lormor, 172 Wn.2d at 93 (chambers); State 

v. Leyerle, 158 Wn. App. 474, 477, 483, 484 n.9, 242 P.3d 921 (2010) 

(moving questioning of juror to hallway outside courtroom was a closure). 

Here, the trial judge conducted portions of the jury selection 

process in private. The trial court violated Gabino's constitutional right to 

a public trial in deciding for cause challenges at sidebar and directing 

peremptory challenges to be exercised at sidebar. The sidebar is a private 

proceeding inaccessible to the public. The procedure in this case violated 

the right to a public trial to the same extent as any in-chambers conference 

or other courtroom closure would have. Though the courtroom itself 

remained open to the public, the proceedings were not. Jurors were 

allowed to remain in the courtroom while challenges were exercised off 

the record, which demonstrates the sidebars were done in a way that those 

in the courtroom would not be able to overhear. 

Whether a closure - and hence a violation of the right to public 

trial - has occurred does not tum only on whether the courtroom has 

been physically closed. A closure occurs even when the courtroom is not 

physically closed if the proceeding at issue takes place in a manner that 

renders it inaccessible to public scrutiny. See State v. Slert, 169 Wn. App. 

- 7 -



766,774 n.11, 282 P.3d 101 (2012) ("if a side-bar conference was used to 

dismiss jurors, the discussion would have involved dismissal of jurors for 

case-specific reasons and, thus, was a portion of jury selection held 

wrongfully outside Slert's and the public's purview. "), review granted, 176 

Wn.2d 1031,299 P.3d 20 (2013). Members of the public are no more able 

to approach the bench and listen to an intentionally private jury selection 

process than they are able to enter a locked courtroom, access the judge's 

chambers, or participate in a private hearing in a hallway. The practical 

impact is the same - the public is denied the opportunity to scrutinize 

events. 

Doubtless the public could see that something was going on, but 

the public could not hear what was happening as it was taking place. The 

public could not hear which potential jurors were challenged for cause as 

those challenges took place. The public could not hear which jurors were 

peremptorily struck, who struck them, and in what order they were struck 

before the final jury was seated. See People v. Williams, 52 A.D.3d 94, 

98, 858 N.Y.S.2d 147 (N.Y. App. Div. 2008) (sidebar conferences, by 

their very nature, are intended to be held in hushed tones). 

When jury selection occurs at a private conference, the public is 

unable to observe what is taking place in any meaningful manner because 

the public cannot hear what is going on. There is no functional difference 
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between conducting this aspect of the jury selection process at a private 

conference in the courtroom and doing the same in chambers or in a 

physically closed courtroom. In each instance, the proceeding takes place 

in a location inaccessible to the public. As a practical matter, the judge 

might as well have conducted the for-cause and peremptory challenge 

processes in chambers or dismissed the public from the courtroom 

altogether because the public was not privy to what occurred. What took 

place in private should have taken place in open court so that the public 

could contemporaneously observe the for-cause and peremptory challenge 

processes as they took place in real time. 

c. The Conviction Must Be Reversed Because The Court Did 
Not Justify The Closure Involving For-Cause Challenges 
Under The Bone-Club Factors. 

The right to a public trial encompasses jury selection. Presley v. 

Georgia, 558 U.S. 209, 723-24, 130 S. Ct. 721, 175 L. Ed. 2d 675 (2010); 

Wise, 288 P.3d at 1118 (citing State v. Brightman, 155 Wn.2d 506, 515, 

122 P.3d 150 (2005)). Here, the trial judge conducted portions of the jury 

selection process in private, including for-cause challenges to potential 

jurors. The trial court violated Gabino's right to a public trial by holding 

this portion of jury selection at sidebar rather than in public. See Slert, 

169 Wn. App. at 769 (right to public trial violated where four potential 
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jurors excused in an in-chambers meeting without first conducting Bone-

Club analysis). 

Before a trial judge closes the jury selection process off from the 

public, it must consider the five factors identified in Bone-Club on the 

record. Wise, 176 Wn.2d at 12. Under the Bone-Club test, (1) the 

proponent of closure must show a compelling interest for closure and, 

when closure is based on a right other than an accused's right to a fair trial, 

a serious and imminent threat to that compelling interest; (2) anyone 

present when the closure motion is made must be given an opportunity to 

object to the closure; (3) the proposed method for curtailing open access 

must be the least restrictive means available for protecting the threatened 

interests; (4) the court must weigh the competing interests of the 

proponent of closure and the public; (5) the order must be no broader in its 

application or duration than necessary to serve its purpose. Bone-Club, 

128 Wn.2d at 258-60; Wise, 176 Wn.2d at 10.2 

2 The Bone-Club components are comparable to the requirements set forth 
by the United States Supreme Court in Waller v. Georgia, 467 U.S. 39, 
104 S. Ct. 2210, 81 L. Ed. 2d 31 (1984). Orange, 152 Wn.2d at 806; see 
Waller, 467 U.S. at 48 (,,[T]he party seeking to close the hearing must 
advance an overriding interest that is likely to be prejudiced, the closure 
must be no broader than necessary to protect that interest, the trial court 
must consider reasonable alternatives to closing the proceeding, and it 
must make findings adequate to support the closure. "); Presley, 558 U.S. 
at 214 ("trial courts are required to consider alternatives to closure even 
when they are not offered by the parties. "). 
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There is no indication the court considered the Bone-Crub factors 

before conducting the for-cause challenges at issue here. The trial court 

errs when it fails to conduct the Bone-Club test before closing a court 

proceeding to the public. Wise, 176 Wn.2d at 5, 12. The court here erred 

in failing to articulate a compelling interest to be served by the closure, 

give those present an opportunity to object, weigh alternatives to the 

proposed closure, narrowly tailor the closure order to protect the identified 

threatened interest, and enter findings that specifically supported the 

closure. Orange, 152 Wn.2d at 812, 821-22. Appellate courts do not 

comb through the record or attempt to infer the trial court's balancing of 

competing interests where it is not apparent in the record. Wise, 176 

Wn.2d at 12-13. 

The violation of the public trial right is structural error requiring 

automatic reversal because it affects the framework within which the trial 

proceeds. Id. at 6, 13-14. "Violation of the public trial right, even when 

not preserved by objection, is presumed prejudicial to the defendant on 

direct appeal." Id. at 16. Gabino's conviction must be reversed due to the 

public trial violation. Id. at 19. 

The State may try to argue the issue is waived because defense 

counsel did not object to conducting the peremptory challenge process in 

private. That argument fails. A defendant does not waive his right to 
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challenge an improper closure by failing to 0 bj ect to it. Id. at 15. The 

issue may be raised for the first time on appeal. Id. at 9. Indeed, a 

defendant must have knowledge of the public trial right before it can be 

waived. In re Pers. Restraint of Morris, 176 Wn.2d 157, 167,288 P.3d 

1140 (2012). Here, there was no discussion of Gabino's public trial right 

before the challenges were exercised at sidebar. There is no waiver. 

The State may also claim there is no public trial violation because 

what transpired off the record during the private sidebar was put on the 

record after the jury was seated. That claim fails because the Supreme 

Court has repeatedly found a violation of the public trial right where the 

record showed what happened in private. See,~, State v. Paumier, 176 

Wn.2d 29, 32-33, 288 P.3d 1126 (2012) (public trial violation where in

chambers questioning of prospective jurors "was recorded and transcribed 

by the court"); Wise, 176 Wn.2d at 7-8 (public trial violation where 

prospective jurors questioned in chambers where "[t]he questioning in 

chambers was recorded and transcribed just like the portion of voir dire 

done in the open courtroom. "). 

In Slert, four jurors were excused in chambers and following the 

in-chambers conference, the trial court indicated on the record that it had 

previously conferred with both counsel and that the parties had mutually 

agreed to excuse four jurors from the jury venire. Slert, 169 Wn. App. at 
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771, 774. The Court of Appeals found a public trial violation. Id. at 769, 

774. There is no basis to treat Gabino's case differently. 

Established law dictates that the Bone-Club factors be considered 

before the closure takes place. Wise, 176 Wn.2d at 12. A proposed rule 

that a later recitation of what occurred in private suffices to protect the 

public trial right would eviscerate the requirement that a Bone-Club 

analysis take place before a closure occurs. A new trial is required. 

d. The Conviction Must Be Reversed Because The 
Court Did Not Justify The Closure Involving 
Peremptory Challenges Under The Bone-Club 
Factors. 

The trial court also violated Gabino's right to a public trial in 

holding peremptory challenges at a private sidebar. "The peremptory 

challenge process, precisely because it is an integral part of the voir 

dire/jury impanelment process, is a part of the 'trial' to which a criminal 

defendant's constitutional right to a public trial extends." People v. Harris, 

lOCal. App. 4th 672, 684, 12 Cal. Rptr. 2d 758 (Cal. Ct. App. 1992) 

(peremptory challenges conducted in chambers violate public trial right, 

even where such proceedings are reported), review denied, (Feb 02, 1993). 

Washington courts recognize the right to a public trial attaches to the 

portion of jury selection involving peremptory challenges. State v. Wilson, 
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174 Wn. App. 328,342-43,346,298 P.3d 148 (2013); State v. Jones, 175 

Wn. App. 87, 97-101,303 P.3d 1084 (2013). 

In Wilson, the Court of Appeals held the public trial right was not 

implicated when the bailiff excused the two jurors solely for illness-related 

reasons before voir dire began. Wilson, 174 Wn. App. at 347. In reaching 

that holding, the court distinguished the administrative removal of jurors 

before the voir dire process began to later portions of the jury selection 

process that implicated the public trial right, including the peremptory 

challenge process. Id. at 342-43. 

The court recognized "both the Legislature and our Supreme Court 

have acknowledged that a trial court has discretion to excuse jurors 

outside the public courtroom for statutorily-defined reasons, provided such 

juror excusals do not amount to for-cause excusals or peremptory 

challenges traditionally exercised during voir dire in the courtroom." Id. 

at 344 (emphasis added). A trial court is allowed "to delegate hardship 

and other administrative juror excusals to clerks and other court agents, 

provided that the excusals are not the equivalent of peremptory or for 

cause juror challenges." Id. (emphasis added). Wilson's public trial 

argument failed because he could not show "the public trial right attaches 

to any component of jury selection that does not involve 'voir dire' or a 
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similar jury selection proceeding involving the exercise of 'peremptory' 

challenges and 'for cause' juror excusals." Id. at 342. 

In Jones, the Court of Appeals held the court violated the right to 

public trial when, during a court recess off the record, the trial court clerk 

drew four juror names to determine which jurors would serve as alternates. 

Jones, 175 Wn. App. at 91. It recognized "both the historic and current 

practices in Washington reveal that the procedure for selecting alternate 

jurors, like the selection of regular jurors, generally occurs as part of voir 

dire in open court." Id. at 101. The court likened the selection of alternate 

jurors to the phases of jury selection involving for cause and peremptory 

challenges. Id. at 98 ("Washington's first enactment regarding alternate 

jurors not only specified a particular procedure for the alternate juror 

selection, but it specifically instructed that alternate jurors be called in the 

same manner as deliberating jurors and subject to for-cause and 

peremptory challenges in open court."). 

Both Jones and Wilson applied the experience and logic test set 

forth in State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 292 P.3d 715 (2012). Jones, 175

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