No. 70044-8-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

JOSE GABINO, Appellant.



BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DAVID S. McEACHRAN, Whatcom County Prosecuting Attorney By KIMBERLY THULIN Appellate Deputy Prosecutor Counsel for Respondent WSBA #21210/Admin. #91075

Whatcom County Prosecutor's Office 311 Grand Avenue, Second Floor Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 676-6784

B. FACTS

Substantive Facts

Gabino was charged with one count of first degree child molestation. CP 3-4. The first trial held in 2004, resulted in a hung jury. CP 64-65. Following a second jury trial in 2012, Gabino was convicted as charged. CP 82. At sentencing, the court imposed an indeterminate sentence of 62 months minimum confinement and a lifetime term of community custody. CP 100. Gabino timely appeals asserting his public

trial rights were violated and that several of the terms of community custody should be stricken. CP 115-32.

C. ARGUMENT

· · ·

- 1.) Gabino's public trial rights were not violated when the trial court and parties conducted For-cause and peremptory challenges at sidebar in open court.
 - a.) Grundy waived his right to assert this error for the first time on appeal by failing to object below pursuant to RAP 2.5

In his supplemental opening brief, Grundy asserts for the first time on appeal that the trial court violated his right to a public trial by exercising his for-cause and peremptory challenges at sidebar in open court. Supp. Br. of App. at 4.

A fundamental principle of appellate litigation is that a defendant may not assert a claim on appeal that was not raised with the trial court.

State v. Davis, 41 Wn.2d 535, 250 P.2d 548 (1953). Requiring a contemporaneous objection provides the trial court an opportunity to prevent or cure the error. State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926, 155

P.3d 125 (2007); see also, State v. Paumier, 176 Wn.2d 29, 52, 288 P.3d 1126 (2012) (J. Wiggins dissenting) (trial court should be given opportunity to correct mistakes at time they are made in order to avoid unnecessary appeals and retrials). While some assertions of violations of the right to public trial have been permitted for the first time on appeal,

and most recently in Wise¹ and Paumier, this Court has also held that a defendant can waive² the right to public trial issue by failing to assert it below. State v. Collins, 50 Wn.2d 740, 314 P.2d 660 (1957). The court in Collins held that the defendant could not raise the court's partial closure of the courtroom for the first time on appeal, noting that "a trial court is entitled to know that its exercise of discretion is being challenged; otherwise, it may well believe that both sides have acquiesced in its ruling." Id. at 748³.

Cases that have concluded that public trial claims are exempt from the contemporaneous objection requirement rely upon a single case: State v. Marsh, 126 Wash. 142, 217 P.705 (1923). See, e.g., State v. Wise, 176 Wn.2d 1, 15, 288 P.3d 1113 (2012); Paumier, 176 Wn.2d at 36; Boneclub, 128 Wn.2d at 257. That case was decided 50 years before the adoption of

¹ State v. Wise, 176 Wn.2d 1, 15, 288 P.2d 1113 (2012).

While the court in Collins used the term "waive," there is a significant distinction between waiver and forfeiture of a right. "Waiver" is the intentional relinquishment of a known right, while "forfeiture" is the "failure to make a timely assertion of a right." U.S. v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 733-34, 113 S.Ct. 1770, 123 L.Ed.2d 508 (1993). Waiver extinguishes the "error," while under forfeiture the error still exists despite the failure to timely raise it. Id. Requiring an objection in order to preserve an issue promotes judicial efficiency by permitting a court to know when defense is not intending to waive an issue by silence.

³ This Court has never addressed, let alone distinguished, its opinion in <u>Collins</u> on this point. The court in <u>Boneclub</u> cited <u>Collins</u> with approval in addressing the issue of whether a partial closure rose to the level of a constitutional violation. <u>Boneclub</u>, 128 Wn.2d at 258.

⁴ Moreover, <u>Marsh</u> involved a complete closure of an unrecorded criminal trial of a young adult who was unrepresented by counsel. The circumstances in <u>Marsh</u> clearly would have satisfied today's RAP 2.5(a) standard.

the Rules of Appellate Procedure. The adoption of RAP 2.5(a)(3) by this Court limited the ability of a defendant to obtain review of a claim of constitutional error, as under that rule, simply identifying a constitutional issue is no longer sufficient to obtain review of an issue not litigated below. State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 687-88, 757 P.2d 492 (1988).

Under RAP 2.5(a), an error is waived if not preserved below unless it is a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a)(3);

Scott, 110 Wn.2d at 686-87. The defendant must show both a constitutional error and actual prejudice to his rights. Kirkman, 159

Wn.2d at 926-2. To demonstrate actual prejudice there must be a "plausible showing by the [appellant] that the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the cases." Id. at 935.

Despite Collins and RAP 2.5(a), the court in Boneclub summarily dismissed the state's argument that Boneclub waived his right to raise his right to a public trial error by failing to object below, holding that "the opportunity to object holds "no practical meaning" unless the court informs potential objectors of the nature of the asserted interest.

Boneclub, 128 Wn.2d at 261. This flawed analysis stems from the court's misapplication of Art. 1 §10 concerns to the defendant's Art. 1 §22 right. This Court should refuse to apply a rule that conflicts with the Rules of Appellate Procedure and subverts the intent of RAP 2.5(a). State v.

Beskurt, 176 Wn.2d 441, 449-51, 293 P.3d 1159 (2013) (Madsen, J., concurring). The court in Boneclub did not consider the change effected by RAP 2.5(a); its holding that a public trial error need not be raised in the trial court should be corrected.

A rigorous adherence to the contemporaneous objection rule would avoid the potential unfair practice of defense misleading the trial court into believing the defendant does not object to a proposed closure or practice but then turning around on appeal and asserting that his right to public trial was violated. Application of a contemporaneous objection rule in this context is consistent with other jurisprudence. Under federal law, Gabino would not be able to assert a violation of his right to public trial for the first time on appeal. Under federal law, an unpreserved open courtroom claim will not be considered on appeal. Levine v. United States, 362 U.S. 610, 619, 80 S. Ct. 1038, 4 L.Ed.2d 989 (1960); Waller v. Georgia, 467 U.S. 39, 42 n., 104 S.Ct. 2210, 81 L.Ed.2d 31 (1984); Puckett v. U.S., 556 U.S. 129, 129 S. Ct. 1423, 1428-29, 173 L. Ed. 2d 266 (2009). As Justice Madsen noted in her concurrence in Sublett, many other jurisdictions have held or recognized that the failure to object contemporaneously to an alleged violation of the right to public trial subjects the claimed error to forfeiture/failure to preserve rules on review. State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 126-27, 292 P.3d 715 (2012) (listing cases).

Respect for stare decisis requires a clear showing that an established rule is incorrect and harmful before it is abandoned. State v. Devin, 158 Wn.2d 157, 168, 142 P.3d 599 (2006). In this instance, the Boneclub rule is incorrect because it contradicts the spirit and letter of the Rules of Appellate Procedure adopted by this Court. It is harmful in at least three respects: 1) the trial court is denied the opportunity to correct any error; 2) if the claim of error is valid and could have been corrected, the public is unnecessarily denied the opportunity to view the original court proceedings; and 3) if the claim of error is valid and could have been corrected, a retrial that should have been unnecessary may be required. The costs of reversal are substantial: it forces jurors, witnesses, courts, the prosecution, and the defendants to repeat a trial that has already once taken place; the passage of time may render retrial difficult, even impossible; and it compromises the prompt administration of justice. United States v. Mechanik, 475 U.S. 66, 72, 106 S.Ct. 938, 89 L.Ed.2d 50 (1986). This Court should overrule the holding in Boneclub that a defendant need not object to a public trial violation below in order to raise it on appeal.

Furthermore, the facts of this case are distinguishable from those cases, <u>Boneclub</u>, <u>Wise</u> and <u>Paumier</u>, that hold that the failure to object does not waive a right to public trial violation. Here, there was not mere

silence, Gabino's attorney willingly participated in the side bar conference and benefited in ensuring the potential jurors did not know which jurors Gabino was challenging for cause. Gabino should not be permitted to participate in the tradition of side bar consultation over legal issues and then raise this objection for the first time on appeal. Permitting Gabino to raise this alleged violation of the right to public trial for the first time on appeal encourages sandbagging.⁵ Gabino waived his right to the formal entry of Boneclub findings by failing to object below pursuant to RAP 2.5.

b.) A Side bar in open court to briefly address for cause and peremptory challenges during voir dire is not a closure under the experience and logic test and therefore does not implicate Gabino's right to a public trial.

Even if this Court determines Gabino may raise this issue for the first time on appeal and that his challenge was not waived below, conducting for-cause and peremptory challenges at a side bar in open court does not implicating Gabino's Article 1, section 22 public trial rights pursuant to the experience and logic test.

Article 1, section 22 guarantees a criminal defendant the right to a public trial. State v. Lomor, 172 Wn.2d 85, 90-91, 257 P.3d 624 (2011).

⁵ This case presents the very concern Justice Wiggins raised in his dissent in <u>Paumier</u>, 176 Wn.2d at 52. While the State is not necessarily asserting that defense counsel purposefully misled the court below, the effect is the same as sandbagging. Most likely

Whether there is a right to public trial violation is a question of law reviewed de novo. State v. Momah, 167 Wn.2d 140, 147, 217 P.3d 321 (2009). Jury selection is considered part of a criminal trial that is subject to the defendant's constitutional right to a public proceeding. State v. Strode, 167 Wn.2d 222, 227, 217 P.3d 310 (2009), State v. Bennett, 168 Wn.App. 197, 204, 275 P.3d 1224 (2102)(public trial right encompasses "circumstances in which the public's mere presence passively contributes to the fairness of the proceedings, such as deterring deviations from established procedures, reminded the officers of the court of the importance of their functions, and subjecting judges to the check of public scrutiny").

Whether a particular portion of a court proceeding is encompassed by the public trial right is determined by the application of the "experience and logic" test. State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58,114, 292 P.3d 715 (2012). In Sublett, the court explained the "experience and logic" test requires courts to determine the necessity for closure by consideration of both history and the purposes of the open trial provision. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d at 73, 292 P.3d 715. The experience portion of the test asks whether the practice in question has historically been open to the public, while the

counsel below was intending to waive the issue, but it is the current state of the law which permits Gambino to exploit his silence below.

logic portion of the test focuses on whether public access is significant to the functioning of the public trial right. Id. If both prongs of this test are met, then the court must apply the <u>Boneclub</u> factors before the court can close the courtroom Id.

Applying the logic and experience test in <u>Sublett</u>, the Court found that the public trial right does not attach to counsel meeting in chambers to answer a question from a deliberating jury. <u>State v. Sublett</u>, 176 Wn.2d at 75. The Court reasoned that such proceedings have not historically been done in an open courtroom and the court's answer to the jury was recorded in writing, thus becoming part of the public record, necessarily reminding the court and counsel of their responsibilities and providing necessary oversight. See, <u>State v.Sublett</u>, at 75-77, *citing* <u>People v. Virgil</u>, 51 Cal.4th 1210, 1237-38, 253 P.3d 553 (2011), *cert. denied*, --U.S.(not every side bar conference rises to the level of a constitutional violation; brief bench conferences during jury selection when the courtroom itself is open to the public and the defendant is present did not deprive the defendant of his right to a public trial.)

Similarly, applying the <u>Sublett</u> logic and experience test to the facts in this case, the record reflects use of a side bar in open court does not implicate public trial rights. Jury selection in this case was completed in open court and there is a written record of all actions taken by the court

and counsel pertaining to both peremptory and for cause challenges that were completed initially at side bar in open court. See, Supplemental RP 2-8, Supp. CP (sub nom 128). Gabino fails to cite to any authority that demonstrates historically for-cause and peremptory challenges have as a matter of routine, historically been done publicly. To the contrary, in State v. Love, Wn.App. __, 309 P.3d 1209 (2013), citing State v. Thomas, 16 Wn.App. 1, 13, 553 P.2d 1357 (1976), the court pointed out that the use of written peremptory challenges was a practice used by many counties historically and that there is little evidence to demonstrate in Washington that voir dire challenges are traditionally completed open court within earshot of the public. See also, Popoff v. Mott, 14 Wn.2d 1, 9, 126 P.2d 597 (1942), (where the record describes a sidebar during voir dire on whether to excuse a juror for cause.), State v. Wolfe, 343 S.W.2d 10, 14 (missouri, 1961) (objection during voir dire). That is not to say that the exercise of peremptory and for cause challenges should not open to public scrutiny. Only that such scrutiny has historically been had through written documentation through clerk's notes or transcripts of open court where potential venire persons are not present. In this case the clerk's notes and transcript reflect what for cause and peremptory challenges were taken at side bar as reflected by the clerk's notes and the subsequent hearing wherein the court placed the content of the sidebar on the record

in open court. These actions sufficiently provide the oversight necessary to ensure the court and counsel acted responsibly in ensuring Gabino obtained a fair trial by an impartial jury and in considering public trial rights.

The logic prong also does not suggest jury selection challenges should be conducted openly in public. Requiring the parties to make their for cause and peremptory challenges in open court in front of the venire panel does nothing to further the underpinnings of public trial rights such as, encouraging witnesses to come forward or otherwise providing public oversight of the process. The issues presented during voir dire challenges are legal in nature and directed to the judge to decide. Furthermore, the clerks notes, in addition to the transcript following the side bar as previously noted reflect there is a written record of the parties exercise of their for cause and peremptory challenges sufficient to meet public oversight concerns. See, Supp. CP ___(sub nom 138), RP 3-5 (10/8/12). The trial court therefore did not erroneously close the courtroom by hearing Gabino's for cause and peremptory challenges at side bar in an open courtroom.

Predicated on the analysis of <u>Sublett</u> and application of the experience and logic test, the court in <u>Love</u> determined that the right to public trial was also not implicated by peremptory or for cause challenges.

As in <u>Love</u>, the exercise of for cause and peremptory challenges at side bar in this case do not, pursuant to the experience and logic test, implicate Gabino's public trial rights. Gabino's counsel engaged in the side bar wherein peremptory and for cause challenges were initially made, the court recorded the challenges and the court's decisions and the court then, outside the presence of the jury but in the open courtroom, made a record detailing the brief sidebar. This record does not reflect Gabino's public trial rights were implicated such that <u>Boneclub</u> findings would be warranted.

Gabino nonetheless, argues pursuant to <u>State v. Wilson</u>, 174

Wn.App. 328, 342-43, 346, 298 P.3d 148 (2013), and <u>State v. Jones</u>, 175

Wn.App. 87, 303 P.3d 1084 (2013), that the side bar conference in this case necessarily violated Gabino's right to a public trial because it pertained to the exercise of peremptory and show cause challenges and was not merely an administrative action.

The Court in <u>Wilson</u> determined the bailiff's administrative dismissal of two potential venire persons prior to voir dire did not implicate nor violate Wilson's public trial right based on the logic and experience test because court's have historically engaged in these administrative actions as reflected by court rules and statutes and, requiring administrative decisions to be conducted in open court would not

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